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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD
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                                  Employee, 
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                 v. 
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	        FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  200919541

        AWCB Decision No.  11- 0153
         Filed with AWCB Fairbanks, Alaska

         on October 17th  2011


Akeem Humphrey’s (Employee) May 24, 2010 claim for benefits under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act (Act) was heard on July 28, 2011 and August 31, 2011, in Fairbanks, Alaska.  Attorney James Hackett represents Employee.  Attorney Nora Barlow of DeLisio Moran Geraghty & Zobel, P.C. represents Lowe’s Home Improvement Warehouse and New Hampshire Insurance Co. (Employer).  Employee appeared and testified.  Thomas Cox, Kevin Taylor, Jared Augustine, Amy Taylor, and Patrick McNulty, M.D., testified on behalf of Employee.  Stephen Fuller, M.D., Brandon Montgomery, and Kimberly Cook testified on behalf of Employer.  The record was held open to receive Employee’s Supplemental Affidavit of Fees and Costs and Employer’s Objection.  The record closed when the panel next met on September 15, 2011.  

ISSUES

Employee contends Employer is liable for medical benefits and transportation costs related to his lumbar spine condition, as the November 30, 2009 work injury permanently aggravated his preexisting congenital spine defect.  Employer contends the work injury is not the substantial cause of the aggravation.

1. Is Employee entitled to past and future medical and related transportation benefits from Employer for his lumbar spine condition?

Employee contends he is entitled to TTD benefits ongoing from the date of his termination with Employer.  Employer contends all TTD payments owed have been paid, and Employee is not entitled to further benefits as he voluntarily left the workforce and was thus not disabled for any claimed period.

2. Is Employee entitled to temporary total disability (TTD) benefits?

Employee contends he is not yet medically stable, and therefore it is premature to rule on his claim for PPI benefits.  Employer contends Dr. Xeller’s rating was performed under an outdated edition of the AMA Guides, and is therefore invalid.  Employer further contends Employee has not suffered a permanent impairment as a result of the work injury and is thus not entitled to PPI benefits.

3. Is Employee entitled to permanent partial impairment (PPI) benefits?

Employee asserts he is entitled to a penalty on late-paid benefits.  Employer contends because Employee is not entitled to the benefits he claims, he is not entitled to a penalty.

4. Is Employee entitled to a penalty?

Employee contends he is entitled to interest on past-due benefits.  Employer contends because Employee is not entitled to the benefits he claims, he is not entitled to interest.

5. Is Employee entitled to interest on past due benefits?

Employee contends he is entitled to payment of his attorney’s fees and costs.  Employer contends because Employee is not entitled to the benefits he claims, he is not entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs.  Employer further contends Employee’s claimed fees are excessive and unreasonable.

6. Is Employee entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs?

FINDINGS OF FACT

Evaluation of the record as a whole establishes the following facts and factual conclusions by a preponderance of the evidence:  

1. On November 30, 2009, Employee was injured while working for Employer when a metal cantilever beam fell and struck his back and left shoulder.  (Employee testimony; Report of Occupational Injury or Illness, November 30, 2009).

2. Employee was seen the day of the injury at Fairbanks Urgent Care.  Physical examination revealed swelling and tenderness.  The treating physician diagnosed thoraco-lumbar strain, suggested Employee “get help w/ heavy lifting.  Work to tolerance,” and recommended ibuprofen and icing for pain.  (Fairbanks Urgent Care report, November 30, 2009).

3. On December 1, 2009, Employee returned to Fairbanks Urgent Care complaining of continued back pain.  He reported he had been “doing [his regular] job lifting w/ help.  Has not iced back, has not taken [ibuprofen] as instructed.”  (Fairbanks Urgent Care report, December 1, 2009).

4. On December 2, 2009, Employee saw Todd Capistrant, D.O. at First Care.  Employee reported increased pain in his left shoulder and left low back at the point of impact only.  Physical examination revealed moderate pain in the lumbar spine with motion.  X-rays of the left shoulder taken that day revealed no acute injury.  Dr. Capistrant recommended continuing ice and ibuprofen as needed, and completed a work ability report which recommended no lifting, pushing or pulling more than 12 pounds.  (Dr. Capistrant report, December 2, 2009).

5. On December 3, 2009, Employee called Dr. Capistrant’s office and requested to speak to Dr. Capistrant about work restrictions.  He stated “the more he stands the more agitated his lower and middle back are.”  (Tanana Valley Clinic phone message, December 3, 2009).

6. On December 3, 2009, Thomas Cox, Employee’s co-worker, submitted a hand-written incident report to Employer describing Employee’s November 30, 2009 injury:

I was in the starwars [forklift] positioning myself to reach up & grab the second to last beam to brace it.  Akeem was behind the cantilever removing a cross brace.  When he removed said brace he stepped between the two beams, taking the path of least resistance.  He did not notice that the last cantilever rack had swung 3-4 feet at the top toward the door & was coming back at him.  I can not (sic) tell you if he was pinned & crushed or if it just landed on his back.  My view was obscured by the I beam.  (Thomas Cox Incident Report, December 3, 2009). 

7. On December 4, 2009, at Employee’s request, Dr. Capistrant revised the work ability report to state Employee should frequently change positions and avoid prolonged sitting.  (Work Ability Report, December 4, 2009).

8. On December 5, 2009, Employee returned to First Care and saw Grayson Westfall, M.D.  Employee reported increased pain “on the left side in the mid thoracic and lumbar back,” worse with twisting.  Employee stated his “workplace has not been supporting his restrictions, so he has been carrying a normal workload.  [He] feels intense pain when he does lifting or rotation movements…. Is not able to take time off work for financial reasons.”  Physical exam was normal other than paraspinal pain with motion.  Dr. Westfall completed a third work ability report, stating: 

The patient must sit for 4.5 hours total or more per day.  In a 9 hour shift, he can stand for up to 4.5 hours in that time.  However, this needs to be intermittent.  He may not stand for more than 30 minutes at any one time, before then he needs anywhere from a 5 minute to 30 minute intermittent sitting event.

Dr. Westfall referred Employee for follow- up care with Dr. Raymond.  (Dr. Westfall report, December 5, 2009).

9. On December 9, 2009, Employee returned to Dr. Capistrant, complaining of continued low back pain mostly on the left side.  Dr. Capistrant stated Employee had “repeatedly been given work ability forms, but it doesn’t appear that he has restricted his duties at work to lift within these restrictions.  He was doing pretty well yesterday until he lifted and twisted something low to the ground.”  Employee reported the pain was mostly in his left flank, and the shoulder pain had resolved.  Physical examination revealed tenderness, decreased range of motion and tissue changes in the lumbar and sacral region.  Dr. Capistrant performed osteopathic manipulation treatments on the lumbar and sacral regions, which caused pain and demonstrated decreased range of motion.  Dr. Capistrant recommended strict adherence to the work ability restrictions both at home and work and to follow-up with Dr. Raymond.  (Dr. Capistrant report, December 9, 2009).

10. On December 13, 2009, Employee was standing on a shelf in his closet at home when the shelf collapsed.  He fell and cut the underside of his left big toe.  Employee was seen at the emergency room at Fairbanks Memorial Hospital, where he received sutures.  He reported to emergency personnel he was taking prescription medication for a prior work related back injury.  Physical examination revealed no immediate acute injury to his back.  (Fairbanks Memorial Hospital report, December 13, 2009).

11. On December 15, 2009, Employee saw Nicole Fliss, M.D., at First Care, stating his pain had improved but then his back “went out” again when he bent over to scan an item at work.  Physical examination showed no lumbar spine tenderness and normal mobility and curvature.  Dr. Fliss took Employee off work for two days and recommended continuing his pain medications.  (Dr. Fliss report, December 15, 2009).

12. On December 16, 2009, Employee saw Matthew Raymond, D.O.  Employee reported his back pain was “no better than the day following his injury, with tight/ache at left low back and between shoulder blades.”  He had not attended physical therapy because he “cannot take off work to go because of the lost wages in doing so.”  Physical exam of the back revealed “no scoliosis, deformity, ecchymosis or obvious trauma.  There is a prominent spasm of the left paravertebrals from T10-L5-6. There is no midline or bony tenderness.”  (Dr. Raymond report, December 16, 2009).

13. On December 17, 2009, Employee saw Zachary Werle, D.O,  and complained his pain management regimen was intolerable as he was overly sedated at work.  He also was “having difficulty with his temporary position in customer service/returns, because there is still quite a bit of lifting & bending that takes place.”  Physical exam revealed no abnormality other than tenderness and a paravertebral muscle spasm.  He had normal rotation and negative straight leg raising.  Dr. Werle recommended a leave of absence from work for two weeks to rest and attend physical therapy.  (Dr. Werle report, December 17, 2009).

14. Employee was off work from December 19, 2009 until January 3, 2010, during which time Employer paid TTD benefits to Employee.  Employer has paid no other time-loss benefits to Employee.  (Compensation Report, August 4, 2011).

15. On December 30, 2009, Employee saw Dr. Werle, complaining of continued pain and muscle spasms and stated he stopped all his medications because they did not help.  Physical examination revealed no abnormality other than tenderness and paravertebral muscle spasm.  (Dr. Werle report, December 30, 2009).

16. On January 7, 2010, Dr. Werle revised Employee’s work restrictions to lifting less than 12 pounds.  (Work Ability Report, January 7, 2010).

17. On January 19, 2010, Employee reported to his physical therapist he was “having no more pain on light duty.”  (Willow Physical Therapy Treatment Note, January 19, 2010).

18. On January 21, 2010, Employee was suspended without pay for two weeks for a violation of company policies.  Employee described the incident as a “texting violation.”    The written report placed in Employee’s personnel file reads:

On Saturday January 9th, 2010 you text messaged an associate stating, “I will talk to Kim and Holly will lose her job until I get my money or a new tv.  Promise.”  These comments were inappropriate for the work environment.  On Tuesday January 1,2009 you wrote a statement regarding this matter in which you stated, “Than Holly text me up cursing and asking questions since she said her peace I told her that I will get her too.”  … As a result of your actions, you are herby (sic) put on written notice.  You are expected to conduct yourself in a professional manner at all times.  Future non-compliance will result in further disciplinary action up to and including termination.  (Employee Performance Report, January 21, 2010; Employee testimony).

19. No other disciplinary reports appear in Employee’s personnel file.  (Record).

20. On January 21, 2010, Employee reported to his physical therapist his “back is not hurting much but his activity is limited.”  Physical therapist Sharon Richards indicated his “movement is functional for light work.”  (Willow Physical Therapy Treatment Note, January 21, 2010).

21. On January 28, 2010, Employee reported to his physical therapist his “upper back no longer hurts and lower back hurts minimally during a light duty day at work.”  (Willow Physical Therapy Progress Note, January 28, 2010).

22. On January 29, 2010, Employee saw Dr. Werle.  He reported “making good improvement” and described his shoulders as “great.”  He complained of “a little tension with rotation” in the lumbar spine and stated his pain was aggravated with rotation and lifting.  He stated he was “looking forward to getting back to work full time.”  Dr. Werle increased Employee’s lifting restrictions to frequent lifting up to 25 pounds.  Physical examination revealed no spinal tenderness, normal mobility and curvature, and full range of motion.  (Dr. Werle report; Work Ability Report, January 29, 2010).

23. On February 12, 2010, Employee received a performance evaluation.  Kimberly Cook, Administrative Manager, indicated Employee met standards in all areas except “Initiative, Teamwork & Reliability.”  Cook testified Employee did not meet standards in that area because he had “some attendance issues.”  (S.T.A.R. Review, February 12, 2010; Kimberly Cook testimony).

24. On February 16, 2010, Employee reported to his physical therapist standing at the cash register at work no longer hurt his back.  (Willow Physical Therapy Treatment Note, February 16, 2010).

25. On February 16, 2010, Employee submitted a hand-written note to Employer.  It read in its entirety:

I Akeem Humphrey is submitting my 2 wk notice due to personal reasons. (no transportation no house).  If nothing is new within these two weeks I will know it is submitted if does not I will let store manager and Lisa know all new information.  I write this as of 2:05 pm on date of Feb 16, 2010.

26. On March 5, 2010, Employee underwent an x-ray of the lumbar spine at 
Dr. Werle’s request.  The x-ray revealed:

The L5 level is transitional with an accessory articulation on the left.  A minimal curvature convex left centers of L4.  A pars interarticularis defect is present at the L45 level probably bilateral.  There is minimal ventral slippage of L4 in relation to L5-L9 to less than 3 mm.  The vertebral bodies are intact.  Disc spaces are adequately maintained.

Radiologist Tyler Gill, M.D., stated his impression of the x-ray was grade 1 spondylolisthesis
 at L4-L5.  (X-ray report, March 5, 2010).  Dr. Werle noted the L4 spondylosis and L4-L5 spondylolisthesis “may well explain his inability to recover from his recent injury with conservative measures & PT.”  Dr. Werle referred Employee to an orthopedist and ordered no heavy lifting or bending until further notice.  (Dr. Werle report, March 5, 2010).

27. On April 9, 2010, Employee saw David Witham, M.D.  Dr. Witham diagnosed “subacute traumatic spondylolisis”
 and ordered additional imaging studies.  (Dr. Witham report, April 9, 2010).

28. On April 15, 2010, a multiplanar MRI of Employee’s lumbar spine and lumbosacral spinal x-ray confirmed “grade 1 spondylolisthesis at L4-L5 secondary to pars defects.”  A bone scan performed that same day was normal.  (Radiology reports, April 15, 2010).

29. On April 20, 2010, Employee saw Dr. Witham, who stated:

The imaging findings were those of Grade I spondylolisthesis at L4-L5, secondary to spondylolysis at L4.  There was no evidence of dynamic instability on flexion and extension lateral views, and the triple phase bone scan did not reveal findings consistent with acuity, but that does not rule out the possibility that this occurred at the time of his work accident in November.

Employee reported he intended to move to Henderson, Nevada.  Dr. Witham recommended following up with a spinal surgeon there as he may be a candidate for surgical fusion of L4-5.  (Dr. Witham report, April 20, 2010).

30. On May 24, 2010, Employee filed a workers’ compensation claim seeking TTD benefits from the date of injury, PPI benefits, medical costs, transportation costs, penalty, interest, attorney’s fees and costs.  (Workers’ Compensation Claim, May 24, 2010).

31. On May 25, 2010, Dr. Witham opined Employee was not medically stable.  (Dr. Witham note, May 25, 2010).

32. On May 28, 2010, Charles Xeller, M.D., performed an Employer’s Medical Evaluation (EME).  Employee had full range of motion, normal lordosis and no spasm.  He complained of midline low back pain.  Dr. Xeller opined Employee had a preexisting grade I spondylolisthesis at L4-5, not acute, and a soft tissue injury.   He stated Employee “might have, to some degree, lit up the underlying spondylolisthesis … but surgical intervention would not be indicated, certainly not a fusion for an area that does not show instability, and does not show acuteness of the injury, as his bone scan is negative.”  He opined there was no need for additional treatment, aside from over-the-counter anti-inflammatory medications and the use of a back brace for heavy lifting.  Applying the American Medical Association’s Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment (AMA Guides), Fifth Edition, Dr. Xeller gave a 5% whole person impairment rating.  Dr. Xeller opined Employee had reached medical stability and could return to work without restriction.  He opined Employee’s November 30, 2009 work injury is not the substantial cause of his current complaints or disability.  (Dr. Xeller report, June 7, 2010).
33. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Division Bulletin 08-02 requires all PPI ratings performed after March 31, 2008 be calculated applying the sixth edition to the AMA Guides.  (Bulletin 08-02, issued January 15, 2008).

34. On June 7, 2010, Dr. Werle opined:

[Employee’s] medical condition has reached “medical stability” from the standpoint of conservative care.  However, he was referred to a local orthopedic surgeon for his condition, who did recommend surgical intervention.  This intervention could provide additional relief & improvement in his condition if he elects to pursue this treatment option.  (Dr. Werle letter, June 7, 2010).

35. On June 16, 2010, Employer filed its answer to Employee’s May 24, 2010 claim, denying all claimed benefits.  (Employer’s Answer, June 14, 2010).

36. On June 16, 2010, Employer filed a controversion notice, denying TTD benefits after February 16, 2010, medical treatment, and PPI benefits based on Dr. Xeller’s rating.  Employer specifically alleged Employee voluntarily left his employment with Employer and was thus not entitled to TTD.  In denying medical treatment, Employer relied on 
Dr. Xeller’s opinion Employee suffered a soft tissue strain as a result of the work injury and had returned to pre-injury status.  Employer denied PPI benefits as Dr. Xeller’s rating was calculated using the fifth edition to the AMA Guides., rather than the sixth edition, and was thus invalid.  (Controversion Notice, June 14, 2010).

37. On January 11, 2011, Employee saw Patrick McNulty, M.D., who recommended an analgesic discogram at L4-5.  He opined Employee’s “low back pain stems from his initial work related injury.”  (Dr. McNulty report, January 11, 2011).

38. On January 21, 2011, Thomas Gritzka, M.D., performed a Second Independent Medical Evaluation (SIME).  Dr. Gritzka diagnosed “symptomatic ‘Bertlolotti’s syndrome’ L5 plus grade 1 isthmic spondylolisthesis L4 on L5” and explained:

The examinee has a complex anomaly of the lumbar spine consisting of unilateral sacralization of the terminal lumbar vertebrae and PARS interarticularis spondylolysis with grade 1 spondylolisthesis at the level above the terminal vertebrae.  This, or similar, minor anomalies of the lumbar spine occur in about 5% of the asymptomatic population.  However, if an individual has “Bertolotti’s syndrome” and  in addition has grade 1 spondylolisthesis with isthmic spondylolysis at the level above the partially sacralized vertebra, this type of minor anomaly typically is asymptomatic for an individual’s entire lifetime unless there is a superimposed injury in which case the superimposed injury converts the previously asymptomatic minor anomaly to a symptomatic condition.  This situation is described in such authoritative text books as Hollinshead’s “Anatomy for Surgeons” The Adult Spine” (sic) by Frymoyer, et al, and “Managing Low Back Pain” by Kirkaldy-Willis.

Dr. Gritzka opined the November 30, 2009 work injury is the substantial cause of Employee’s current back condition, as it caused a permanent aggravation of Employee’s previously asymptomatic congenital defect.  He stated Employee’s condition typically is not resolved with conservative treatment and recommended further evaluation, including a discogram.  He predicted Employee would require an L4 to sacrum fusion.  (Dr. Gritzka SIME report, January 21, 2011).

39. On February 2, 2011, Dr. McNulty performed an analgesic discogram.  Employee reported “100% relief of pain during [the] anesthetic phase of injection, confirming diskogenic pain source.”  Dr. McNulty opined “interbody type reconstruction is an appropriate consideration.”  (Dr. McNulty operative report, February 2, 2011).

40. On February 15, 2011, Dr. McNulty recommended spinal fusion surgery based on the results of the analgesic discogram.  He stated:

Please note, this patient does not have Bertolotti’s syndrome, i.e. symptomatic sacralization of L5-S1, because of the 100% pain relief confirmed by analgesic discogram at L4-5.  Please note, there is a report by a Dr. Thomas Gritska (sic) which does not reflect any knowledge of the analgesic discogram nor its results.  The response of the analgesic discogram is a definitive test to confirm the patient’s symptomatic discogenic pain at the L4-5 level.  The patient gives a definitive history of his injury occurring at work with significant trauma sustained.  Accident occurred 11/30/09.  The current need for surgery is directly work related as primary cause of requiring surgery at L4-5 due to work related injury of 11/30/09.  (Dr. McNulty report, February 15, 2011).

41. On April 28, 2011, Dr. Gritzka’s deposition was taken at Employer’s request.  
Dr. Gritzka opined spinal fusion surgery was reasonable and necessary to treat Employee’s combined condition of Bertolotti’s Syndrome and spondylolisthesis.  He testified typical treatment for Bertolotti’s Syndrome alone is conservative, consisting of injections, physical therapy, exercise, and bracing, but in the event of a combined condition, as in Employee’s case, conservative treatment is not likely to be successful.  
Dr. Gritzka opined Employee “had a pre-existent spondylolisthesis at L4-5 that was asymptomatic and it was rendered symptomatic by the [November 30, 2009] accident” and preexisting asymptomatic Bertolotti’s syndrome rendered symptomatic by the work injury.  He further opined “the injury in this case is the substantial cause or the most important cause” of Employee’s disability and need for medical treatment.  (Deposition of Dr. Thomas Gritzka, April 28, 2011).

42. On May 10, 2011, Stephen Fuller, M.D., performed an EME.  He diagnosed “pre-existing anomalous sacralization at L5-S1” and “pre-existing right sided L4 spondylolysis with resultant mild L4-5 spondylolisthesis.”  He opined the November 30, 2009 work injury caused a strain of the thoracic and lumbar paraspinal muscles, but did not aggravate or “light up” Employee’s preexisting conditions.  Dr. Fuller attributed Employee’s current symptoms to the December 13, 2009 fall in the closet at home, as it was after that time Employee began complaining of his lumbar “locking up.”  He further opined the work injury could not have been “in any way severe” because there was no bruising, redness or abrasion to the skin.  He further opined Employee could not have tolerated any osteopathic adjustments with a fresh fracture, new disruption or a “lighting up” at L4-5.  He opined many people with Employee’s preexisting anomalous defect, which occurs in about 5% of the population, have no symptoms.  Dr. Fuller opined Employee suffered a temporary thoracic strain as a result of the work injury, which was fully resolved by January 29, 2010.  Dr. Fuller opined no additional medical treatment is reasonable or necessary for Employee’s condition.  Specifically, he opined spinal fusions conducted “‘for pain only’ have a rather dismal track record.”  (Dr. Fuller EME Report, May 10, 2011).

43. On May 18, 2011, Dr. McNulty performed a spinal fusion at L4-5.  (Dr. McNulty operative report, May 18, 2011).

44. On June 27, 2011, Dr. Fuller submitted an addendum to his May 10, 2011 EME Report:

On 05/18/11, Patrick McNulty, M.D. performed a “360” fusion on Mr. Humphrey.  Anteriorly, he placed a bone cage at L4-5.  After closure, he then turned the patient over and widened the neural foramina at L4-5.  He found a spondylolisthesis. He then performed a posterolateral L4-5 fusion, in addition to the previously performed anterior fusion procedure.

CONCLUSION:  The above surgery does not alter the opinions previously issued on 05/10/11.  The necessity for the above-noted surgery was not attributable to the 11/30/09 event because the work incident did not cause the L4-5 pathology or spondylolisthesis, which clearly pre-existed.  (Dr. Fuller Addendum to EME Report, June 27, 2011).

45. On July 25, 2011, Dr. Gritzka wrote a letter to Employer’s attorney following up on questions she asked at his deposition.  He questioned her prior request for supporting documentation “because it is standard orthopedic knowledge that minor anomalies of the lumbar spine of various sorts may be asymptomatic – some in fact, are relatively common.”  Nevertheless, Dr. Gritzka provided a copy of a depiction of a sacral anomaly from Anatomy for Surgeons by Hollingshead, as cited in his report, demonstrating a preexisting abnormality that “takes a lot of stress in normal weight bearing and when disrupted by trauma becomes symptomatic.”  Dr. Gritzka also provided an article from The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery describing Bertolotti’s Syndrome as a minor anomaly that can become symptomatic after trauma.  He stated:

[w]ith regard to aggravation of a preexisting spondylolisthesis, I don’t think this condition needs any particular support from the literature – it is simply a given.  For example, a standard indication for surgery on a young male with spondylolisthesis is an individual who has been asymptomatic but has then a superimposed injury; and has persistence of symptoms in spite of conservative treatment 6 months, post injury.  I think this is simply straight forward orthopedic teaching….

[a]nomalies such as Mr. Humphrey’s had can be asymptomatic; in fact they exist in about 1 in 20 people; the combination of these two entities occurring together is approximately 1 in 400.  It is a rare fragility…. If you can find any articles that would contradict my statements – that is, any peer reviewed article that says that neither spondylolisthesis or Bertolotti’s Syndrome can be rendered symptomatic following a trauma I would be happy to critique them. I would be happy to review any article that states that the combination of spondylolisthesis and Bertolotti’s Syndrome do not place an individual at risk for low back injury and pain.  

(Dr. Gritzka letter to Nora Barlow, July 25, 2011).

46. On August 9, 2011, post surgery, Employee saw Dr. McNulty with persistent low back pain; however, x-rays revealed the L4-5 reconstruction to be intact with no obvious problems.  Dr. McNulty opined Employee was “doing well” and recommended continued physical therapy.  (Dr. McNulty report, August 9, 2011).

47. Dr. McNulty testified at hearing. He first saw Employee in January 2011.  Dr. McNulty has not reviewed any medical records prior to January 2011.  Employee complained of severe lumbar pain with radiculopathy into the leg.  An analgesic discogram performed in February 2011 provided 100% pain relief on injection, which confirmed the disc as the pain source.  He has not seen any study claiming the analgesic discogram is not effective or reliable as a method of identifying the source of lower back pain.  While the two MRIs performed on Employee do not show nerve impingement, Dr. McNulty explained often a nerve is only impinged on movement, which would necessarily not show on an MRI, conducted with the patient lying motionless.  Dr. McNulty opined Employee had been a good candidate for a spinal fusion because he had tried conservative measures without relief.  Dr. McNulty performed a spinal fusion on May 18, 2011.  He opined the back surgery was “so far successful,” and Employee was “making good progress, but still had room to improve.”  He anticipated maximum medical improvement about 9-12 months post-surgery, or by May 2012.  Dr. McNulty testified it is his opinion Employee’s preexisting spondylolisthesis was asymptomatic until the November 30, 2009 work injury.

48. Dr. McNulty testified Employee is not yet medically stable but it is probable Employee can return to light duty work before he reaches medical stability.  Dr. McNulty defined light duty work as lifting, pushing and pulling less than 10 pounds, no crawling, no lifting below waist level, and alternating between sitting and standing frequently.  He anticipated he would release employee to light duty work when he next saw him for a follow-up appointment, on November 9, 2011.  (Dr. McNulty testimony).

49. Dr. Fuller testified Employee’s fourth vertebra is abnormal due to a gap between the front and back of the vertebra, which caused the vertebra to slide forward one-eighth inch.  To correct this slippage, Dr. McNulty removed the slipped disc and fused the fourth and fifth vertebrae.  The slippage was due to Employee’s preexisting PARS defect, a condition which is not always symptomatic.  The condition can, however, become spontaneously symptomatic.  Dr. Fuller testified he agrees with Dr. Gritzka’s diagnosis, although Dr. Gritzka calls the condition Bertolotti’s Syndrome.  

50. In Employee’s case, Dr. Fuller opined the work injury was not the cause of this preexisting condition becoming symptomatic, as evidenced by the bone scan, which did not show any “hot spot” in the L4-5 region, and therefore no new trauma.  Immediately following the injury, Employee reported vague pain in the thoracal-lumbar region, not at L4-5.  The metal cantilever beam struck Employee on the thoracic area, on muscle, not bone, and there was no bony tenderness on exam.  Pain was on the point of impact only, and Employee complained of generalized back pain, not specifically lumbosacral pain.  Employee had osteopathic manual therapy, and if he had had an L4-5 slip, he could not have tolerated a manipulation.  Dr. Fuller opined, more likely than not, the December 13, 2009 fall in the closet caused Employee’s preexisting condition to become symptomatic.

51. Dr. Fuller testified he disagrees with Dr. McNulty’s methods used to determine Employee was a good candidate for spinal fusion surgery.  He would have instead recommended spinal exercises, cortisone treatments, and physical therapy, as most patients with spondylolisthesis do not require surgery.  Dr. Fuller questioned 
Dr. McNulty’s use of an analgesic discogram, as Dr. McNulty did not perform a control level to rule out subjective pain response by the patient.  Dr. Fuller did, however, testify the spinal fusion surgery was a reasonable and necessary treatment for the preexisting spondylolisthesis.  

52. Dr. Fuller opined Employee was capable of light duty work between February 2010 and May 2011.  He predicts a recovery time for fusion surgery of six months, and opined patients are usually capable of light duty work between six and twelve weeks after surgery.  (Dr. Fuller testimony).

53. Thomas Cox credibly testified about his interactions with Employee and his witnessing the work injury.  Cox, Employee, and one other co-worker were disassembling metal cantilever structures, 15-20 foot tall shelving units.  The cantilevers consisted of several metal beams, which the employees removed one-by-one and placed on a forklift.  Cox was operating the forklift and Employee was stabilizing one of the metal beams when another beam “swung out and swung back down onto [Employee’s] back.”  Employee was “knocked down onto the floor.”  Cox and the other co-worker had to remove the beam from Employee’s back.  Cox did not see the full extent of the impact to Employee’s back, as his view was partially obstructed by the forklift.  Cox did not believe Employee was severely injured, and no ambulance was called.  Employee was not screaming, but was clutching his back in pain.  Cox wrote an incident report indicating Employee was able to walk unassisted after the accident; though Cox testified Employee was “hunched.”  Cox described Employee as friendly and non-complaining before the accident, but after the injury, Employee often complained of back pain.  (Thomas Cox testimony).

54. Kevin Taylor credibly testified about his observations of Employee’s activities before and after the work injury.  Taylor worked with Employee at Lowe’s and socialized with him outside work.  He described Employee as a hard worker and exemplary employee who never complained.  After the November 30, 2009 work injury, Employee “was unable to move” and was only able to carry very light loads.  Taylor helped Employee move in the spring of 2010.  He testified Employee was unable to lift anything into his truck and “couldn’t move very well.”  He testified Employee had been very active before the accident, but afterward his “physical condition had deteriorated.”  (Kevin Taylor testimony).

55. Jared Augustine credibly testified about his observations of Employee before and after the work injury.  He worked with Employee at Lowe’s and described him as a hard worker and “go-to guy” who did his work enthusiastically and “never complained.”  On November 30, 2009, Augustine saw Employee in the break room and he was “holding his back and complaining of pain.  He told me a beam fell on his back.”  (Jared Augustine testimony).

56. Amy Taylor credibly testified about her relationship with Employee and her observations of him before and after the work injury.  Taylor and Employee have a romantic relationship and have one child together.  Taylor has two other children from a previous relationship whom Employee co-parents.  Taylor and Employee were living together in 2009.  She testified Employee had no physical problems before the injury, that he was active and worked hard.  The day after the work injury, Taylor had to help Employee dress because his pain was so severe.  Their son Bryson was born one month after the work injury.  Employee’s back condition was severe enough that he was unable to lift his newborn child or help in any meaningful way.  

57. Taylor testified about conflicts in her relationship with Employee, admitting the couple “split up many times,” but that Employee never moved out of the home for more than a few days at a time.  Employee always had reliable transportation and a place to sleep.  She testified the Lowe’s store manager gave Employee the option to resign or be fired in February 2010, and that “it had something to do with me.”  Taylor was involved in a confrontation with a female employee at Lowe’s who was “texting me from Lowe’s and threatening me.  She was trying to date [Employee.]  He rejected her.  I told her to stop.  The next day [Employee] was fired.  That was my understanding, that [the firing] had something to do with that.”  

58. Taylor and Employee moved to Nevada in May 2010.  Employee had spinal surgery in May 2011 in Nevada.  He was able to hold Bryson above his head and play with him about 3-4 weeks after surgery, and it was one of the first times he seemed happy since the work injury.  Taylor believes Employee became depressed after the injury due to the constant pain and his inability to work.  (Amy Taylor testimony).

59. Employee testified about his condition before and after the work injury.  Prior to the November 30, 2009 work injury, Employee was in good physical condition.  He received a medical discharge from the military because of a potential heart problem identified in a routine stress test, but he had no prior back problems.  The day after the injury, Employee couldn’t move without extreme sharp pain in his back and left shoulder.  He was placed on light duty work in the returns department at Lowe’s, but “that didn’t work, because I still had to lift stuff sometimes.  It still hurt.  I couldn’t sit in that job, but it hurt to stand all the time.”  Employee testified in the period December 2009 through February 2010 his back never improved, and his work for Employer aggravated his pain.  He testified he sought treatment from Dr. Capistrant who performed OMT,
 but “I told him to stop because it hurt.”  When he moved to Nevada in May 2010, he “couldn’t lift anything,” and he “couldn’t have continued to work even if I had wanted to” because his pain was so severe.  Employee viewed surgery as his “last resort,” and he “didn’t want it,” but Dr. Witham recommended it, and Employee is now pleased with the results.  

60. Employee testified that on February 22, 2010, he was working at the register at Lowe’s when he was paged over the building intercom system to manager Brandon Montgomery’s office.  Montgomery notified Employee he could not park “near the light pole” near the front of the store, as Employees were to park toward the back of the parking lot.  Employee told him he would move his car.  Montgomery then stated “It’s not my decision; it’s over my head, but they want to give you two-weeks notice.”  He “gave me the option of resigning or being terminated.”  He told Employee “once I healed, I could come back.”  Employee had previously given two-weeks notice because he had been “having transportation problems,” but he had “withdrawn that notice.”  Employee elected to resign and was paid through March 1, 2010.  

61. Employee admitted on cross-examination he was “not honest with my doctors.  I told them I was better than I was.”  When asked to explain the inconsistencies, Employee stated he “was willing to do anything to keep my job.  I felt like I wasn’t doing anything [on light duty] and I was afraid I’d lose my job.  I didn’t want to complain.”  Employer never gave Employee any indication his employment was in jeopardy due to his back condition, but he “didn’t want any reason to be fired or to cause any problem because I needed my job.”  When asked his opinion about why he was asked to resign or be fired, he stated, “I don’t know why I was fired.  I thought it was because I couldn’t do what I had been doing before and was letting everyone down.”  (Employee testimony).

62. Brandon Montgomery credibly testified about his interactions with Employee in February 2010.  Montgomery was hired as store manager of the Fairbanks Lowe’s in early 2010.  Employee submitted a two-week notice “because of personal reasons” in February 2010.  Employee told Montgomery “he put in a notice saying he was relocating to Vegas.  He didn’t say anything about working things out and coming back.”  Montgomery stated he did not page Employee to his office as Employee testified, and as store manager he does not have sole authority to fire employees.  Managers are required to follow a code of progressive discipline, and all disciplinary actions are routinely documented in an employee’s file.  He is aware employees may not be fired because they have sustained an on-the-job injury.  When asked what his understanding was about why Employee was leaving his employment with Lowe’s, he stated Employee simply quit.  (Brandon Montgomery testimony).

63. Kimberly Cook credibly testified about her interactions with Employee.  Cook served as operations manager for Lowe’s while Employee worked there and was Employee’s supervisor.  She worked with Employee to accommodate his work restrictions.  She described Employee as a “great Employee” and stated she “liked him” and “wanted to keep him on” because he was a “go-to type of person.”  Cook stated Employee “had problems complying” with his work restrictions, and he “wanted to do more.”  Lowe’s accommodated his work restrictions and would have continued to do so had Employee not quit.  Employee “never told me he was having trouble.  I was the one who was imposing the work restrictions.  I didn’t want to see him get hurt again.”

64. Cook testified about the January 21, 2010 texting incident which appeared in Employee’s personnel file.  She described it as an “issue between two females, who were texting on the floor” and “threatening in the workplace.”  Employee was suspended for two weeks and was later paid for the suspended time.  Cook stated “the incident was over.  It was not a concern.  There were no more issues after that.”  

65. Cook testified about Employee’s termination with Employer.  She stated Employee “put in his notice and then withdrew it and then resubmitted it and withdrew it again.”  Employee told her he was leaving due to personal issues and “he was going to quit.”  There was “absolutely not” any discussion about him being fired.  Had there been a meeting giving Employee the option to resign or be terminated, Cook would have been present, along with Brandon Montgomery and the Human Resources Manager.  There would have been written documentation in Employee’s personnel file.  “No one is terminated without docs in the file.”  Cook “had no reason to terminate him.  He was a good employee and an asset to the company.”  Cook did speak to Employee “a couple of times” about parking violations, but they were always positive interactions, and “he just said ‘ok’ and moved his car.”  (Kimberly Cook testimony).

66. Employee’s testimony concerning his departure from Lowe’s in February 2010 is inconsistent with the objective evidence in the record and the credible testimony of Brandon Montgomery and Kimberly Cook.  Therefore, Employee is not a credible witness.  (Experience, judgment, observations, and inferences drawn from all of the above).

67. Employee voluntarily withdrew himself from the workforce and did not seek alternative employment.  (Experience, judgment, observations, and inferences drawn from all of the above).

68. Employee’s counsel’s affidavits of attorney fees reflect 29.3 hours of attorney time in 2010 at $285.00 per hour, 89.6 hours of attorney time in 2011 at $300.00 per hour, and itemized costs of $3,031.13, for claimed fees and costs totaling $38,261.63.  Employee’s counsel seeks an award of actual, reasonable attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(b).  (Employee’s Affidavit of Counsel re: Attorney Fees and Costs, July 22, 2011; Employee’s Supplemental Affidavits of Counsel re: Attorney Fees and Costs, August 18, 2011, August 31, 2011, September 2, 2011).

69. Employer objects to Employee’s request for a fee award under AS 23.30.145(b), arguing fees should instead be awarded under AS 23.30.145(a).  Employer argues if fees are awarded under section (b) of the statue, they should be reduced to reflect the complexity of the case and the benefits awarded.  Employer objects to time Employee’s counsel spent drafting the petition to Admit Dr. Gritzka’s deposition and July 25, 2011 letter, as the petition was unnecessary.  Employer objects to time Employee’s counsel spent traveling to the board office to prepare a Request for Conference form and time spent preparing documents for forwarding to Employee.  Employer objects to time spent preparing a check for Dr. McNulty.  Employer objects to duplicative entries on August 7, 2011 and August 17, 2011.  Employer objects to the Employee’s request for postage reimbursement.  Employer objects to the unreasonableness of the estimated travel costs of $1,100 plus taxes and fees for Employee to attend the hearing in person.  (Employer’s Objections to Attorney Fee Affidavit, August 22, 2011 and September 13, 2011).

70. In his reply to Employer’s objections, Employee’s attorney explained preparation of a Request for Conference form was “part and parcel of Humphrey’s on-going efforts to coordinate Nevada orthopedic surgeon Dr. McNulty’s schedule with that of the Board’s.”  He clarified “because of the volume of medical documents and other documentary exhibits produced by Lowe’s at the Board hearing on July 28, 2011, Humphrey’s attorney needed to review the documents to make sure the proper documents were being forwarded to Humphrey.”  He explained the “preparation of Dr. McNulty’s check also included preparation and forwarding of a confirming transmittal document enclosing payment” to avoid a cancellation fee.  He explained the apparently identical entries on August 7 and August 17 were not in fact duplicative, as “review of documentary exhibits, like review of medical records, is a repetitive ‘task,’ … not ‘the exact same tasks’, but rather on-going, related but different tasks pertaining to Lowe’s voluminous documentary exhibits for different preparation purposes.”  In response to Employer’s objection concerning the cost of Employee’s travel of Fairbanks for the hearing, Employee submitted a print-out from Alaska Airlines listing current airfare from Las Vegas to Fairbanks as $1,186.40.  (Employee’s Reply to Employer’s Objections to Attorney Fee Affidavit, August 26, 2011).

71. Employee’s counsel is an experienced attorney in the field of workers’ compensation law, and has represented employees at numerous board hearings.  (Experience, judgment, observations, and inferences drawn therefrom).

72. This case involved relatively complex medical evidence involving diagnosis and treatment of a rare combination of congenital defects.  Legal issues for hearing included causation, medical stability, and reasonableness and necessity of treatment.  Medical evidence included two EME reports and addendum reports, an SIME report and addendum report, deposition of the SIME physician, treatment and operative records, and testimony at hearing from both the EME and treating physician.  (Experience, judgment, observations, and inferences drawn therefrom).

73. Based on a considered review of the record as a whole, including the itemized affidavit of services, Employee’s counsel expended approximately 70% of his efforts pursuing medical benefits for Employee for his November 2009 work injury and 30% seeking all other claimed benefits.  Employee has prevailed on his claim for medical benefits for his lumbar spine condition, as well as a period of TTD benefits.  (Record).

PRINCIPLES OF LAW
The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-34 (Alaska 1987).

AS 23.30.010.  Coverage.

(a) Except as provided in (b) of this section, compensation or benefits are payable under this chapter for disability or death or the need for medical treatment of an employee if the disability or death of the employee or the employee’s need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment. To establish a presumption under AS 23.30.120(a)(1) that the disability or death or the need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the employee must establish a causal link between the employment and the disability or death or the need for medical treatment. A presumption may be rebutted by a demonstration of substantial evidence that the death or disability or the need for medical treatment did not arise out of and in the course of the employment. When determining whether or not the death or disability or need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability or death or the need for medical treatment. Compensation or benefits under this chapter are payable for the disability or death or the need for medical treatment if, in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause of the disability or death or need for medical treatment.

AS 23.30.095. Medical treatments, services, and examinations.  
(a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. However, if the condition requiring the treatment, apparatus, or medicine is a latent one, the two-year period runs from the time the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee’s disability and its relationship to the employment and after disablement. It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board. The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require….

Under the Act, an employer shall furnish an employee injured at work any medical treatment “which the nature of the injury or process of recovery requires” within the first two years of the injury.  The medical treatment must be “reasonable and necessitated” by the work-related injury.  Thus, when the board reviews an injured employee’s claim for medical treatment made within two years of an indisputably work-related injury, “its review is limited to whether the treatment sought is reasonable and necessary.”  Philip Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727, 730 (Alaska 1999).

AS 23.30.095(a) requires employers to pay for treatment necessitated by the nature of injury or the process of recovery up to two years after the injury date.  After two years the board may authorize treatment necessary for the process of recovery or to prevent disability.  In Hibdon, the Alaska Supreme Court noted “when the Board reviews a claim for continued treatment beyond two years from the date of injury, it has discretion to authorize ‘indicated’ medical treatment ‘as the process of recovery may require.’”  Citing Carter, 818 P.2d at 664.  “If the treatment is necessary to prevent the deterioration of the patient’s condition and allow his continuing employment, it is compensable within the meaning of the statute.” Leen v. R.J.Reynolds Co., AWCB Dec. No. 98-0243 (September 23, (1998); Wild v. Cook Inlet Pipeline, 3AN-80-8083 (Alaska Super. Ct. Jan. 17, 1983); see accord Dorman v. State, 3AN-83-551 at 9 (Alaska Super. Ct., February 22, 1984).  

AS 23.30.120.  Presumptions. 

(a)  In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that 

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. 
(2) notice of the claim has been given;

Under AS 23.30.120, an injured worker is afforded a presumption the benefits he or she seeks are compensable. The Alaska Supreme Court held the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute, and applies to claims for medical benefits and continuing care.  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996); Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 664-665 (Alaska 1991).  An employee is entitled to the presumption of compensability as to each evidentiary question.  Sokolowski v. Best Western Golden Lion, 813 P.2d 286, 292 (Alaska 1991).  
Application of the presumption to determine the compensability of a claim for benefits involves a three-step analysis.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).  First, the claimant must adduce “some” “minimal,” relevant evidence establishing a “preliminary link” between the disability and employment, or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability, to support the claim. Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987).  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary to make that connection.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.  VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  The presumption of compensability continues during the course of the claimant’s recovery from the injury and disability.  Olson v. AIC/Martin J.V., 818 P.2d 669, 675 (Alaska 1991).  Witness credibility is not weighed at this stage in the analysis. Resler v. Universal Services Inc., 778 P.2d 1146, 1148-49 (Alaska 1989).    If there is such relevant evidence at this threshold step, the presumption attaches to the claim.  If the presumption is raised and not rebutted, the claimant need produce no further evidence and the claimant prevails solely on the raised but un-rebutted presumption. Williams v. State, 938 P.2d 1065 (Alaska 1997).

In Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, AWCAC Decision No. 150 (March 25, 2011), the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission held the 2005 legislative amendment to AS 23.30.010 altered the longstanding presumption analysis: “…[W]e conclude that the legislature intended to modify the second and third steps of the presumption analysis by amending AS 23.30.010 as it did.”  Runstrom, AWCAC Decision No. 150, at 3.  The Commission held the second stage of the presumption analysis now requires the employer

“rebut the presumption with substantial evidence that excludes any work-related factors as the substantial cause of the employee’s disability, etc.  In other words, if the employer can present substantial evidence that demonstrates that a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing the disability, etc., the presumption is rebutted. However, the alternative showing to rebut the presumption under former law, that the employer directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that employment was a factor in causing the disability, etc., is incompatible with the statutory standard for causation under AS 23.30.010(a). In effect, the employer would need to rule out employment as a factor in causing the disability, etc. Under the statute, employment must be more than a factor in terms of causation.  Id. at 7 (emphasis in original). 

“Substantial evidence” is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 611-612 (Alaska 1999); Miller at 1046.

Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the employer’s evidence is viewed in isolation, without regard to any evidence presented by the claimant.  Id. at 1055.  Credibility questions and weight to give the employer’s evidence are deferred until after it is decided if the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption the claimant is entitled to the relief sought. Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 880 P.2d 1051 (Alaska 1994); Wolfer at 869. 

Runstrom held once the employer has successfully rebutted the presumption of compensability,

[the presumption] drops out, and the employee must prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that in relation to other causes, employment was the substantial cause of the disability, need for medical treatment, etc.  Should the employee meet this burden, compensation or benefits are payable.  Id. at 8.
It is a fundamental principle in workers’ compensation law that the employer must take the employee “as he finds him.”  Fox v. Alascom, Inc., 718 P.2d 977, 982 (Alaska 1986), citing S.L.W. v. Alaska Workmen’s Compensation Board, 490 P.2d 42, 44 (Alaska 1971); Wilson v. Erickson, 477 P.2d 998, 1000 (Alaska 1970).  A pre-existing condition does not disqualify a claim if the employment aggravates, accelerates or combines with the pre-existing condition to produce the disability for which compensation is sought.”  DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90, 96 (Alaska 2000); Peek v. SKW/Clinton, 855 P.2d 415, 416 (Alaska 1993).  

In the context of a preexisting condition, the employee must show the work injury “aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the underlying disease or infirmity to produce the…[need for medical treatment] for which compensation is sought.  Id., citing Thornton v. Alaska Workmen’s Comp. Bd., 411 P.2d 209, 210 (Alaska 1966).  To prove a work injury combined with a preexisting condition to produce a disability, the employee must show 
“(1) the disability would not have happened ‘but-for’ an injury sustained in the course and scope of employment; and (2) reasonable persons would regard the injury as a cause of the disability and attach responsibility to it.”  Thurston v. Guys with Tools, Ltd. 217 P.3d 824, 828 (Alaska 2009) citing Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 532 (Alaska 1987). 

A substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury bearing a causal relation to the disability.  Peek at 416.  An aggravation is substantial where an injured employee’s disability would not have occurred at the time it did, in the way it did, or to the degree it did, but for the work injury.  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533 (Alaska 1987).  The presumption of compensability applies to an aggravation or acceleration of a preexisting condition.  Meek v. Unocal, 914 P.2d 1276 (Alaska 1996). 
The Alaska Supreme Court held in DeYonge:

Thus, for an employee to establish an aggravation claim under workers’ compensation law, the employment need only have been “a substantial factor in bringing about the disability.”  Hester suggests that when a job worsens an employee’s symptoms such that she can no longer perform her job functions, that constitutes an “aggravation” – even when the job does not actually worsen the underlying condition.  1 P.3d 90, 96. (Alaska 2000)(citing Hester v. State, Public Employees’ Retirement Board, 817 P.2d 472, 476 at n. 7 (Alaska 1991).

The question of whether employment aggravated or accelerated a preexisting disease or injury is one of fact to be determined by the board, and it is not a function of the reviewing body to reweigh the evidence.  Burgess Constr. Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 317 (Alaska 1981)(citations omitted).

While Thornton and its progeny are generally instructive, they occurred prior to the 2005 legislative amendment to AS 23.30.010.  Prior to 2005, to prove his claim for benefits under the Act, an employee need only show the work injury was “a substantial factor” in his disability or need for medical treatment.  In 2005, the legislature amended the statutory language to require an employee prove his work injury was “the substantial cause” of his disability or need for treatment.  The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission recently addressed the 2005 statutory amendments to AS 23.30.010 in City of Seward v. Hansen, AWCAC Decision No. 146 (January 21, 2011):

In view of the language in the last two sentences of AS 23.30.010(a), the purpose of SB 130, that is, to try to control workers’ compensation insurance premiums, and the legislative history pertaining to the amendment of AS 23.30.010, which reflects a deliberate attempt to limit benefits, the commission concludes that the legislature’s intent was to contract coverage under the Act. Accordingly, we interpret the last two sentences in AS 23.30.010(a) as requiring employment to be, more than any other cause, the substantial cause of the employee’s disability, death, or need for medical treatment. It no longer suffices that employment is a substantial factor in bringing about the harm.  Hansen, AWCAC Decision No. 146, at 14.

See also, Uresco Construction Materials, Inc. v. Porteleki, AWCAC Decision No. 152 (May 11, 2011).

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

AS 23.30.145.  Attorney fees. . . 

(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.  

Where an employer resists payment of benefits, and a claimant employs an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, an award of attorney fees may be made under 
AS 23.30.145(b).  Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 160 P.3d 146, 153 (Alaska 2007).  In Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell, 718 P.2d 971, 974-975 (Alaska 1986), the Alaska Supreme Court held attorney fee awards under AS 23.30.145(b) should be “both fully compensatory and reasonable so that competent counsel will be available to furnish legal services to injured workers” (emphasis in original). In determining a reasonable fee under AS 23.30.145(b), the board is required to consider the contingency nature of representing injured workers, the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, the benefits resulting from the services obtained, the fee customarily charged in the locale for similar services, and the experience, reputation and ability of the lawyer performing the services.  Id. at 975.  

AS 23.30.155. Payment of compensation. (a) Compensation under this chapter shall be paid periodically, promptly, and directly to the person entitled to it, without an award, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the employer.  To controvert a claim the employer must file a notice, on a form prescribed by the director, stating 

(1) that the right of the employee to compensation is controverted; 

(2) the name of the employee;

(3) the name of the employer; 

(4) the date of the alleged injury or death; and 

(5) the type of compensation and all grounds upon which the right to compensation is controverted. 

. . .
(d) If the employer controverts the right to compensation, the employer shall file with the division and send to the employee a notice of controversion on or before the 21st day after the employer has knowledge of the alleged injury or death.  If the employer controverts the right to compensation after payments have begun, the employer shall file with the division and send to the employee a notice of controversion within seven days after an installment of compensation payable without an award is due….
(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of the installment.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment.  The additional amount shall be paid directly to the recipient to whom the unpaid installment was to be paid. 


. . .
(o) The director shall promptly notify the division of insurance if the board determines that the employer’s insurer has frivolously or unfairly controverted compensation due under this chapter.  After receiving notice from the director, the division of insurance shall determine if the insurer has committed an unfair claim settlement practice under AS 21.36.125. 
(p) An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due. Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in 
AS 09.30.070 (a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due. 

A controversion notice must be filed “in good faith” to protect an employer from a penalty.  Harp v. ARCO Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352, 358 (Alaska 1992).  “In circumstances where there is reliance by the insurer on responsible medical opinion or conflicting medical testimony, invocation of penalty provisions is improper.”  But when nonpayment results from “bad faith reliance on counsel’s advice, or mistake of law, the penalty is imposed.”  State of Alaska v. Ford, AWCAC Decision No. 133, at 8 (April 9, 2010) (citations omitted).  “For a controversion notice to be filed in good faith, the employer must possess sufficient evidence in support of the controversion that, if the claimant does not introduce evidence in opposition to the controversion, the Board would find that the claimant is not entitled to benefits.”  Harp at 358 (citation omitted).  Evidence in Employer’s possession “at the time of controversion” is the relevant evidence reviewed to determine its adequacy to avoid a penalty.  Harp at 358.  If none of the reasons given for a controversion is supported by sufficient evidence to warrant a decision the claimant is not entitled to benefits, the controversion was “made in bad faith and was therefore invalid” and a “penalty is therefore required” by AS 23.30.155.  Id. at 359.

AS 23.30.185. Compensation for temporary total disability.  

In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to Claimant during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen’s Compensation Board, 524 P.2d 264 (Alaska 1974), the Alaska Supreme Court stated: 

The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.  Vetter, 524 P.2d at 266.

Vetter further held where a claimant, through voluntary conduct unconnected with his or her injury, leaves the labor market, there is no compensable disability.  Expanding on its ruling in Vetter, however, the Court, in Cortay v. Silver Bay Logging, noted the definition of “disability” in AS 23.30.395 says nothing about an employee’s reasons for leaving work.  The issue is whether the claimant is able to work despite his injury, not why he is no longer working.  787 P.2d 103, 106 (Alaska 1990).

Interpreting both Vetter and Cortay, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission, in Strong v. Chugach Electric Assoc. Inc., AWCAC Decision No. 128 (February 12, 2010), held where an employee’s unemployment is because of his work injury, and his earning capacity is impaired, he is entitled to compensation.  Strong set the legal standard as “unemployed but willing to work and making reasonable efforts to return to work” when deciding if an unemployed injured workers’ loss of earnings is due to a compensable disability or an otherwise non-compensable voluntary withdrawal from the work force.  (Id. at 20). 
AS 23.30.190. Compensation for permanent partial impairment; rating guides.  

(a) In case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality. . . the compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee’s percentage of permanent  impairment of the whole person....The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041. . . .

(b)  All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment….
AS  23.30.395.  Definitions.  In this chapter,

. . .

“disability” means incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment;   

. . .

“medical stability” means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence;

…

8 AAC 45.120. Evidence.

…

(f) Any document, including a compensation report, controversion notice, claim, application for adjustment of claim, request for a conference, affidavit of readiness for hearing, petition, answer, or a prehearing summary, that is served upon the parties, accompanied by proof of service, and that is in the board’s possession 20 or more days before hearing, will, in the board’s discretion, be relied upon by the board in reaching a decision unless a written request for an opportunity to cross-examine the document’s author is filed with the board and served upon all parties at least 10 days before the hearing. The right to request cross-examination specified in this subsection does not apply to medical reports filed in accordance with 8 AAC 45.052; a cross-examination request for the author of a medical report must be made in accordance with 8 AAC 45.052.

…

(h) If a request is filed in accordance with (f) of this section, an opportunity for cross-examination will be provided unless the request is withdrawn or the board determines that

…

(3) the document is a report of an examination performed by a physician chosen by the board under AS 23.30.095(k) or AS 23.30.110(g). 

8 AAC 45.122. Rating of permanent impairment.

(a) The board will give public notice of the edition of the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment and effective date for using the edition by publishing a notice in a newspaper of general circulation in Anchorage, Fairbanks, and Juneau as well as issue a bulletin for the “Workers’ Compensation Manual,” published by the department.

8 AAC 45.142. Interest.

(a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in . . . AS 09.30.070(a) for an injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid. If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

8 AAC 45.180. Costs and attorney's fees.

…

(b) A fee under AS 23.30.145(a) will only be awarded to an attorney licensed to practice law in this or another state. An attorney seeking a fee from an employer for services performed on behalf of an applicant must apply to the board for approval of the fee; the attorney may submit an application for adjustment of claim or a petition. An attorney requesting a fee in excess of the statutory minimum in AS 23.30.145(a) must (1) file an affidavit itemizing the hours expended, as well as the extent and character of the work performed, and (2) if a hearing is scheduled, file the affidavit at least three working days before the hearing on the claim for which the services were rendered; at the hearing, the attorney may supplement the affidavit by testifying about the hours expended and the extent and character of the work performed after the affidavit was filed. If the request and affidavit are not in accordance with this subsection, the board will deny the request for a fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee, and will award the minimum statutory fee.

(c) Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, an attorney fee may not be collected from an applicant without board approval. A request for approval of a fee to be paid by an applicant must be supported by an affidavit showing the extent and character of the legal services performed….

(1) A request for a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) must be verified by an affidavit itemizing the hours expended as well as the extent and character of the work performed, and, if a hearing is scheduled, must be filed at least three working days before the hearing on the claim for which the services were rendered; at hearing the attorney may supplement the affidavit by testifying about the hours expended and the extent and character of the work performed after the filing of the affidavit. Failure by the attorney to file the request and affidavit in accordance with this paragraph is considered a waiver of the attorney's right to recover a reasonable fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee under AS 23.30.145(a), if AS 23.30.145(a) is applicable to the claim, unless the board determines that good cause exists to excuse the failure to comply with this section. 

(2) In awarding a reasonable fee under AS 23.30.145(b) the board will award a fee reasonably commensurate with the actual work performed and will consider the attorney's affidavit filed under (1) of this subsection, the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the benefits resulting to the compensation beneficiaries from the services, and the amount of benefits involved. 

…

(f) The board will award an applicant the necessary and reasonable costs relating to the preparation and presentation of the issues upon which the applicant prevailed at the hearing on the claim. The applicant must file a statement listing each cost claimed, and must file an affidavit stating that the costs are correct and that the costs were incurred in connection with the claim. The following costs will, in the board’s discretion, be awarded to an applicant:

…

(13) reasonable travel costs incurred by an applicant to attend a hearing, if the board finds that the applicant's attendance is necessary; 

…

(17) other costs as determined by the board. 

ANALYSIS

1.
Is Employee entitled to past and future medical and related transportation benefits from Employer for his lumbar spine condition?

These are factual questions to which the presumption of compensability applies.  Employee raised the presumption the November 30, 2009 work injury caused a permanent aggravation of his preexisting spinal condition through his testimony and the medical reports of his treating physicians and SIME physician Dr. Gritzka.  

Employer rebutted the presumption of compensability with the EME report of Dr. Xeller, who opined Employee had a preexisting grade I spondylolisthesis at L4-5, not acute, and suffered only a temporary soft tissue injury as a result of the work injury.  Employer further rebutted the presumption with the EME report and testimony of Dr. Fuller, who opined the work injury did not permanently aggravate Employee’s preexisting congenital defects and only further conservative treatment was necessary.

On the third step in the presumption analysis, Employee proves by a preponderance of the evidence the November 30, 2009 work injury is the substantial cause of his lumbar spine symptoms and need for medical treatment. 

While Drs. Gritzka and McNulty may disagree about Employee’s definitive diagnosis, they agree Employee had a previously asymptomatic congenital defect, which was rendered symptomatic by the November 30, 2009 work injury.  They agree this aggravation is permanent and Employee’s spinal fusion was reasonable and necessary treatment.

Dr. Fuller states the work injury did not aggravate Employee’s preexisting condition, as evidenced by Employee tolerating osteopathic manipulations.  Dr. Fuller opined a patient with an acute lumbar injury would experience extreme pain on manipulation.  Employee testified, however, he did experience pain when Dr. Capistrant attempted osteopathic manipulations and that he “told him to stop because it hurt.”

Dr. Fuller determined the work injury did not render Employee’s lumbar condition symptomatic, as evidenced by his failure to report lumbar-sacral pain prior to December 13, 2009, when he fell in the closet.  However, the record demonstrates Employee sought treatment for lumbar pain before December 13, 2009.  On December 3, 2009, Employee called Dr. Capistrant’s office stating prolonged standing agitated his middle and lower back.  Dr. Fuller conceded this may refer to lumbar pain.  On December 9, 2009, 
Dr. Capistrant performed osteopathic manipulations on Employee’s lumbar and sacral spine, which caused pain and revealed decreased range of motion.  

Dr. Fuller contends the cantilever accident did not aggravate Employee’s preexisting defect.  He instead opines the December 13, 2009 fall in the closet at home likely caused Employee’s symptoms.  However, this contention is not substantiated by the medical evidence.  Employee did not complain of any immediate injury to his back when he treated at the emergency room at Fairbanks Memorial Hospital after falling in the closet.  His injury was to his left big toe, and was a laceration, not a muscle or orthopedic injury.  He reported to the emergency personnel he was taking medication for a prior work related back injury.  Credible witness testimony substantiates Employee’s claim the cantilever beam fell directly onto his back and shoulder.  It is more likely than not the cantilever falling on his back, rather than the fall in his closet at home two weeks later, rendered his previously asymptomatic back condition symptomatic.  Dr. Fuller’s contention the November 30, 2009 work injury was not the substantial cause of Employee’s symptoms is not credible.  

Dr. Fuller questions the validity of Dr. McNulty’s use of analgesic discogram to diagnose discogenic pain and warrant spinal fusion surgery.  However, the methods by which Dr. McNulty diagnosed Employee are ultimately irrelevant, as Dr. Fuller conceded the May 18, 2011 spinal fusion surgery was reasonable and necessary treatment for Employee’s condition.

Dr. Xeller opined Employee suffered only a temporary soft tissue injury as a result of the work accident and it is his preexisting spondylolisthesis that causes his current need for treatment.  However, even Dr. Xeller admitted in his EME report the work injury may have “lit up” Employee’s preexisting condition.

As explained above, the opinions of Drs. Fuller and Xeller are not credible and are thus given less weight than the opinions of Dr. McNulty and Dr. Gritzka.  Employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence the November 30, 2009 work injury permanently aggravated his preexisting congenital defect and the work injury is the substantial cause of his need for treatment.  Employee is entitled to past and future medical benefits for treatment of his lumbar spine, as recommended by his treating physician.  

2.
Is Employee entitled to temporary total disability benefits?

This determination requires factual determinations to which the presumption of compensability applies.  With his testimony and the testimony of his girlfriend Amy Taylor, Employee raised the presumption he was unable to work because of his work injury from February 2010 forward.  Employee further raised the presumption he was unable to work due to his work injury after his spinal fusion with the medical opinions of his treating physician Dr. McNulty.

Employer rebutted the presumption with the medical opinions of Drs. Xeller and Fuller that Employee was medically stable and able to work light duty as of January 2010.  Employer further raised the presumption with the testimony of Brandon Montgomery and Kimberly Cook Employee voluntarily quit his position at Lowe’s and thus removed himself from the workforce.

At the third stage of the analysis, weighing the evidence and taking into account witness credibility, Employee fails to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence he was unable to work from February 2010 forward because of the November 30, 2009 work injury.  While the testimony and evidence in the record concerning Employee’s departure from Lowe’s is conflicting, the most likely explanation is Employee voluntarily left his position.  Employee’s testimony that Brandon Montgomery paged him to his office and then gave him the choice of resigning or being fired is not credible.  Montgomery and Cook credibly testified if any disciplinary action takes place, it is documented in the employee’s personnel file, and Montgomery does not have authority to make decisions to fire employees and carry out terminations on his own.  Amy Taylor testified she believed Employee’s termination “had something to do with her,” though this information necessarily came though Employee, as Taylor was not present at Lowe’s when Employee left his position.  Even if Employee was terminated for cause, there is no credible evidence in the record he was terminated because of his work injury or his work restrictions.  In fact, Kimberly Cook, Employee’s supervisor, testified she was more than willing to accommodate Employee’s work restrictions, and it was Employee himself who had difficulty following his physician’s orders.  No one gave Employee any indication his position was in jeopardy; he had a positive performance review only ten days before he left his position at Lowe’s.  All of Employee’s supervisors and co-workers testified he was an exemplary employee, well-liked and a hard worker.

Employee’s treating physicians opined Employee was able to continue to work light duty, and Employer was willing to accommodate Employee’s work restrictions.  Employee left work at Lowe’s voluntarily and thus is not considered disabled under Vetter and Strong.  During the period from February 22, 2010, Employee’s resignation date, and May 18, 2011, Employee’s spinal fusion surgery, Employee was released to light duty work, and Employer had and was willing to accommodate this performance restriction.  Employee is not entitled to TTD benefits for this period.
Employee is, however, entitled to TTD benefits from the date of his spinal fusion surgery until he becomes medically stable or is released to work.  Dr. McNulty opined Employee will reach medical stability 9-12 months post-surgery, or May 18, 2012.  He also indicated he would likely release Employee to light duty work as of his next appointment, currently scheduled for November 9, 2011.  Employee is entitled to TTD benefits from May 18, 2011 ongoing until he reaches medical stability or is released to work by his treating physician, whichever occurs first.  

3.
Is Employee entitled to permanent partial impairment (PPI) benefits?

Dr. Xeller performed his May 28, 2010 PPI rating using the fifth edition to the AMA Guides, contrary to the January 15, 2008 Division Bulletin requiring all PPI ratings conducted after March 31, 2008 apply the sixth edition to the AMA Guides.  That rating is thus invalid.  In any event, as discussed above, Employee is not yet medically stable, and thus the erroneous PPI rating given by Dr. Xeller was premature.  Dr. McNulty opined Employee will reach medical stability 9-12 months post-surgery.  Employee will be entitled to a rating in May 2012, or earlier if Dr. McNulty declares him medically stable before then.

4.
Is Employee entitled to a penalty?

In determining whether Employer has unfairly or frivolously controverted Employee’s claim, it must first be determined if Employer acted in bad faith.  To support its June 14, 2010 controversion, Employer relied on Dr. Xeller’s opinion Employee suffered a temporary muscle strain as a result of the work injury, now fully resolved.  Employer further relied on Employee’s voluntary termination of his employment with Lowe’s.  Employee presented no evidence at hearing Employer’s reliance upon these reports constituted bad faith.  The panel must consider the evidence supporting the controversions independent of any contrary evidence and in the light most favoring upholding the controversion.  The medical opinions and reports Employer relied upon to support its controversions are sufficient to support a finding Employee was not entitled to the denied benefits.  Employer’s controversion was not unfair or frivolous, nor did Employer act in bad faith.  Employee is not entitled to a penalty. 

5.
Is Employee entitled to interest on past due benefits?

The law requires payment of interest to an injured worker on compensation not paid when due.  Awards of interest are intended to compensate the recipient for the time loss benefit of monies otherwise owed.  Interest accrues on any late-paid compensation or benefits, including late-paid medical benefits.  Here, Employee is being awarded medical benefits and a period of TTD benefits.  If there are outstanding medical bills, the medical providers are entitled to interest.  If Employee has directly paid for any medical treatment, he is entitled to interest on those payments.  Employee is also entitled to interest on the period of past-due TTD payments awarded.

6.
Is Employee entitled to an award of attorney fees and costs?

In making fee awards, the law requires consideration of the nature, length and complexity of the professional services performed on behalf of the injured worker, as well as the benefits resulting from those services.  An award of attorney fees and costs must reflect the contingent nature of workers’ compensation proceedings, and fully but reasonably compensate attorneys for services performed on issues for which the injured worker prevails.

Employee retained counsel who successfully obtained valuable benefits for Employee, namely a finding of compensability for his lumbar spine injury, and the benefits arising therefrom, including a period of TTD benefits, medical benefits and associated transportation costs.  Employee incurred legal fees and costs.  Having prevailed on at least a portion of his claim, Employee is entitled to an award of fees and costs under 
AS 23.30.145(b). 

Employee’s counsel has specialized in the area of workers’ compensation law for many years, and has represented employees at numerous board hearings.  He provided a verified itemization of 29.3 hours of attorney time in 2010 at $285.00 per hour, 89.6 hours of attorney time in 2011 at $300.00 per hour, and itemized costs of $3,031.13.  Counsel seeks reimbursement for his actual fees and costs totaling $38,261.63.  
Employer objects to paying attorney’s fees for time spent preparing Employee’s petition to admit Dr. Gritzka’s deposition and follow-up letter, as it was unnecessary.  This objection is well-taken, as 8 AAC 45.120(h)(3) allows admission of SIME reports even if a request for cross-examination is filed.  Additionally, Employer did not object to admission of 
Dr. Gritzka’s deposition or follow-up letter.  Employee’s claimed fees will be reduced by 3.8 hours ($1,140.00); the itemized time spent preparing the petition.

Employer objects to several itemized items in Employee’s fee affidavits.  Employee adequately clarified these entries and the time spent will not be reduced.  Employee provided documentation supporting the reasonableness of the claimed airfare for Employee’s travel to Fairbanks to appear at hearing.  Employee’s claimed transportation costs will not be reduced.  Employer objects to reimbursement for postage incurred in providing numerous documents to Employee, who resides in Nevada.  While there is no specific allowance in the regulation for reimbursement for postage, in this case, reimbursement for postage incurred in sending documents to an out-of-state client falls under “other costs determined by the board” under 8 AAC 45.180(f)(17).  Neither employee nor his counsel will be penalized for the fact Employee no longer resides in Alaska.  Employee is entitled to reimbursement for postage costs.

Based on Employee’s counsel’s efforts and success in this case, his years of experience, the contingent nature of workers’ compensation cases, and recent awards to attorneys similarly situated, counsel’s hourly rates of $285.00 and $300.00 are reasonable here, as are the itemized costs.  However, as Employee did not prevail on the bulk of his TTD claim, Employee’s counsel’s fee award will be reduced to approximately 70% of the claimed amount to reflect that portion of his claim on which Employee actually prevailed.  Employee is entitled to fees of $23,863.35 ($35,230.50 - $1140.00 x .70) and costs of $3,031.13, for a total award of $26,894.48.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Employee is entitled to past and future medical and related benefits from Employer for his lumbar spine condition.

2. Employee is not entitled to an award of temporary total disability benefits for the period from February 22, 2010 to May 17, 2011.  Employee is entitled to an award of temporary total disability benefits from May 18, 2011 until he is medically stable.

3. Employee is not yet entitled to PPI benefits, as he is not medically stable.

4. Employee is not entitled to a penalty.

5. Employee and unpaid medical providers are entitled to interest on past-due benefits, including medical benefits, if any.

6. Employee is entitled to an award of attorney fees and costs.

ORDER

1. Employer shall provide Employee with ongoing medical and related benefits for his lumbar spine condition.

2. Employer shall pay all outstanding medical bills related to Employee’s treatment for his lumbar spine condition.

3. Employer shall pay TTD benefits to Employee from May 18, 2011, the date of Employee’s spinal fusion, until he is released to work or declared medically stable, whichever occurs first.  Per the opinion of Employee’s treating physician, Employee will likely be released to light duty work November 9, 2011 and reach medical stability by May 18, 2012.

4. Employer shall pay for a PPI rating to Employee once he is declared medically stable.

5. Employer shall pay interest to Employee on TTD benefits and medical benefits he paid out of pocket, as awarded in this decision.

6. Employer shall pay interest to medical providers on all outstanding medical benefits, if any.

7. Employer shall pay attorney fees and costs totaling $26,894.48.

Dated in Fairbanks, Alaska, this 17th day of October, 2011.


ALASKA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION BOARD



_______/s/_________________________



Amanda K. Eklund, Designated Chair



______/s/__________________________



Krista Lord, Member

                           
_____/s/____________________________



Zeb Woodman, Member

If compensation is payable under the terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission.

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order.

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision and becomes effective when filed in the Board’s office, unless it is appealed.  Any party in interest may file an appeal with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the date this decision is filed.  All parties before the Board are parties to an appeal.  If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied because the Board takes no action on reconsideration, whichever is earlier.

A party may appeal by filing with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from; 2) a statement of the grounds for the appeal; and 3) proof of service of the notice and statement of grounds for appeal upon the Director of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Division and all parties.  Any party may cross-appeal by filing with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  Whether appealing or cross-appealing, parties must meet all requirements of 8 AAC 57.070.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.  

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of AKEEM J. HUMPHREY, employee, v. LOWE’S HOME IMPROVEMENT WAREHOUSE, INC., Employer, and NEW HAMPSHIRE INSURANCE CO., insurer; Case No. 200919541, dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Fairbanks, Alaska, this 17th day of October, 2011.






__________/s/_________________________________

Diahann Caulineau-Kraft, Admin. Assist. II
�








� “Spondylolisthesis” is defined as “[a] forward displacement or slipping of one of the bony segments of the spine (i.e. of a vertebra) over its fellow below, but usually the slipping of the fifth or last lumbar (loin) vertebra over the body of the sacrum.”  J.E. Schmidt, Attorney’s Dictionary of Medicine, Matthew Bender & Co., Inc., 1989 at S-185.  


� “Spondylolisis” is defined as “[t]he disintegration or dissolution of a vertebra.”  Attorney’s Dictionary of Medicine, at S-185.


� Osteopathic manipulation therapy.
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